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The Essex Place-names Project is a County-wide survey to record place- and field-names from historical documents such as Tithe maps and apportionments, estate
maps, sale and auction catalogues, conveyances, terriers, deeds, rolls, inquistions and surveys.

The second element of the Project is to investigate on-the-ground visible remains which correspond to the Place-names for actual or potential archaeological,
agricultural and industrial sites, and to record natural (topographical) and man-made features which may relate to the Place-name. This involves field-survey in
rural and outside investigation in built-up areas.

It is anticipated that the Project will lead to identification of archaeological sites and lost historic buildings; it will enable analysis of indicators of early settlement,
land- holding, agricultural and industrial practices of the County. It will refine the more precise meaning of descriptive words and elements used by earlier settlers
as they gave names appropriate to the topography of the landscape of their time.

For convenience the surveys are based on the parish, recognising that present civil parish boundaries are not necessarily identical to former ecclesiastical
boundaries. Local Recorders are supplied with templates of Record Forms to ensure consistency of recording across the County, and forward completed forms to a
Central Coordinator for transfer to a county computer database which is available at the Essex Record Office to researchers.

This publication presents part of the information recorded from the Tithe or Estate Award and Map, (and from other documents for this parish.) The full record is
contained on the master database in the Essex Record Office, Wharf Road, Chelmsford CM2 6YT. Please notify errors to the Project Coordinator at the same
address.

THE TITHE MAP AND APPORTIONMEN

Since medieval times a tenth of the produce of land and stock had been paid by landholders to the church. At the Dissolution of the Monasteries, the property of
many religious houses, including the right to collect tithes, passed into lay hands. The Tithe Commutation Act which received Royal assent on 13th August 1836
abolished a rent payable in kind and substituted rent-charges apportioned on each plot or parcel. The tithe-rent payable was assessed on the average value of
wheat, barley and oats and was to fluctuate with price movements.

The commutation could be by voluntary agreement between the local owners and payers or, if agreement failed, could be compulsorily imposed by commissioners.
A Valuer was to be appointed to apportion the rent of each parcel of land and tenants could deduct that rent-charge from their rent paid to the landlord. The task
fell to the Tithe Commissioners to produce a map and an Apportionment (Award). A large-scale survey was produced for over 70% of England and Wales in the
following 9 years, and about another 8% up to 1855. Most of the parishes in Essex were surveyed. The map scales vary. The Award records ownership, tenancy
and land-use, field by field and parcel by parcel (often quoting the field name) with the ground area and rent-charge.

Land that was tithe-free tends to be less accurately mapped and contains few if any of the details recorded for those parcels subject to tithe. Rights of way and
roads also tend to be neglected. Boundaries of the tithe areas are shown as are some natural features such as streams, ponds, gardens, greens and commons.
Buildings are often shown coloured red if dwellings or grey if not. Because the Award may have been agreed only some time after the map was finished,
discrepancies occur between the two. Enclosure Awards, when extant, usually date to the 18th and early 19th centuries. J.Kemble.
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The Tithe Award of Dunton (Essex Record Office D/CT121a), dated 1837, shows a rent-charge payable to Rev. James Chapman, rector, of £506 including glebe
of £6. The whole parish of 2000 acres was subject to tithes. 1719 acres were arable, 222 acres meadow and pasture, 37 acres woodland, 22 acres common, roads
and waste, and 27 acres glebe. The Tithe Commissioners were J.W. Buller and Richard Jones, Assistant Roger Kynaston, the Valuer Henry Clayton.

The Tithe Map (D/CT121b) was surveyed at a scale of 20 inches to a mile and measures 70”x40”. It shows the detached parcels in an inset. Henry Clayton’s
name, dated 1838, appears in the bottom right-hand corner.

Dantuna was held in 1066 by a priest, a free-man for 7 hides and 40 acres, then in 1086 by Odo, Bishop of Bayeux, half-brother to William L. 15 acres of land which
Waulfwin held was an Annexation of Godwin Woodhen belonging to the king (Morris, 1983). Dunton is documented in 1206, translated as ‘hill-farm’ (Ekwall,
1960; Gelling, 1976), the hall standing above the 30 metre contour overlooking the Thames plain. Streams flow westwards to the Mar DyKe.

There were two manors: 1. Dunton-hall near the church (Tithe parcel 135). After the banishment of Bishop Odo in 1088 the estate was given to the Albini family,
benefactors of the Abbey of Bec. In 1395 after the demise of the abbey, the advowson of the church at Dounton Willett passed to John de Pykenham. Humphrey de
Bohun, earl of Essex (died 1372) held one fee in Dunton near Hareward Stoke. In 1550 John Ponet had licence to alienate the manor of Dounton Waylate to John
Cheke, but before that the Provost and Fellows of Kings College Cambridge were in possession. 2. Manor of Friern (Tithe no 117) belonging to St Bartholomews
Hospital (Kerling, 1973), the house "2 a mile north of the church (Morant, 1768).

Dunton Wayletts, a capital messuage 1 mile north of the church (Tithe no 79), belonged to George Drywood (died 1603) who held from Kings College Cambridge
50 acres called Sherebreds crofis, Primorlands, Barrefeild, Russhenfeild and a messuage called Scotts or Great Cannons and lands named Riches and Does
(Morant, 1768). It derives its name from the family of Gundreda de Weylete documented in 1280, wey-laet, a road-junction (Reaney, 1935).

The church dedicated to St. Mary the Virgin (Tithe no 133) is now a residence. The detached portion of the parish lay between Holehaven Creek and Shellhaven
Creek about 8 miles southeast of the church, later the site of an oil refinery.

13th and 14th century land-holdings of St Bartholomews Hospital, London, are shown in the Appendix. In the 14th century a Dunton tenant paid the hospital rent
of hay, a bull and 12 cows yearly. Significant amounts of land in the home counties and beyond were sold in 1921 to fund the building of a new south wing to
the hospital in Smithfield (Medvei, 1974).

The meeting place of the Hundred was near Barstable Hall in Basildon, in Domesday Book Berdestestabla. This is translated by Ekwall (1960) as ‘Bearda’s post’,
or possibly from O.E. barda, ‘warship-mooring post’, though in the absence of a stream or river, this would seem less likely (Christy, 1926).
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The Tithe Award Place-names of the Farms are shown in the Main Database.  The Award does not detail Field-names.  Return to “Simple Search” and enter “Dunton” in the search box.  Parcel Numbers, including the detached portion of the Parish, are shown superimposed on the 6” Ordnance Survey Map, c.1875, below.
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